1961

Sherman B. Hinckley and Bonneville on the Hill Co. v. Robert B. Swaner, Peter B. Swaner et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company is a corporation of the State of Utah which distributes waters of the Jordan River through the surplus canal to its stockholders in Salt Lake County.

On or about June 14, 1961, the Appellee, Bonneville On The Hill Company, a substantial stockholder of the North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company filed with the Secretary of the corporation

a call for a special stockholders' meeting to be held at 134 South Main St., Salt Lake City, Utah, on the 5th day of July, 1961, at which time and place the meeting was held. At the meeting the Secretary announced that there were present in person or by proxy, the representatives of 7,910.75 shares of a total of 8,143.5 shares of the outstanding stock of the company, and the president declared that a quorum was present. The following is a list of stockholders represented, either in person or by proxy:

STOCKHOLDER	PROXY	NO. OF SHARES
Bonneville on the Hill Company		3,223.625
Bothwell & Swaner Company	Robert B. Swaner	1,795.6875
F. B. Bothwell	Robert B. Swaner	1,795.6875
Eddie Ernst		8.35
Edward Gilmor	Robert B. Swaner	10.00
Sherman B. Hinckley		21.00
Arza A Hinckley and Rulon T. Hinckley	Edwin Whitney	179.90
George and Clyde S. Hill		105.50
Tom E. Jeremy		216.00
Grace J. Cassaday	Edwin Whitney	216.00
L. J. Lerwill		60.00
A .H. McCallum	Edwin Whitney	140.00
Harold Wallace for Mrs. Ada Nebeker		37.00
Joe Bosone for North Point Fur & Reclamation Co.		25.00
Tom Peck	Edwin Whitney	15.00
Peter B. Swaner		1.00
Robert B. Swaner		1.00
Edwin Whitney		60.00
		<hr/> 7,910.75

The president then stated that the first matter of business to be considered at the meeting was to act upon a proposal that the number of directors of the company be increased from four to five, and a resolution to that effect was presented and seconded. After a discussion a ballot by roll call was conducted and the number of shares voting in favor of the resolution was 4,307.375 shares which was a majority vote of the quorum present or 54.45%. The president then stated that the resolution required two-thirds of the outstanding stock of the company as provided by Article XXVI of the Articles of Incorporation which reads as follows:

“ARTICLE XXVI

Amendments

The Articles of Incorporation of this company may be amended or any of the articles as made and provided may be repealed or new provisions adopted at any regular or special meeting of the stockholders by a vote of two-thirds of the outstanding stock.”

Mr. Edwin Whitney objected and stated that the Articles of Incorporation were not being amended and that the number of the Board of Directors could be determined by a majority vote of the stockholders present as provided by Articles XXI and XXIV which read as follows:

“ARTICLE XXI

Board of Directors

There shall be enacted by ballot by the stockholders of this corporation at each annual stockholders' meeting or at a special meeting called for that purpose, a Board of Directors consisting of not less than four nor more than six, and until otherwise determined by the stockholders, the Board of Directors shall consist of four members.

“ARTICLE XXIV

Stockholders' Meeting

A stockholders' meeting of this corporation shall be held at the company's office at Salt Lake City, Utah, at 2:00 p.m. upon the second Monday in November in each and every year for the purpose of electing a Board of Directors and the transaction of such other business as may be properly brought before such meeting. Special stockholders' meetings may be called by the President or by any three directors or by the stockholders owning at least $\frac{1}{4}$ of issued capital stock.

“At any regular or special stockholders' meeting excepting as hereinafter provided for in this article or in Article XXVI following, a majority of the issued stock must be represented in person or by proxy to constitute a quorum for the transaction of any and all business. A majority of a quorum shall be requisite for the passing, confirming or adopting of any act, motion, or resolution.

“All regular or special stockholders' meetings provided for by these articles and duly

convened may be continued from day to day without notice or adjourn from time to time with notice hereafter provided, or for the want of sufficient representation of stock any such meeting may be adjourned by a majority of the stockholders who are present pursuant to notice or call for such regular or special meeting or any adjournment thereof. Reasonable notice of the time and place of any such adjournment shall be mailed to each and every stockholder."

Following the discussion the president ruled that the proposed resolution required a two-thirds majority of all outstanding stock and that the resolution had failed. Upon refusal of the president to proceed further, the Vice-President called for a nomination of a fifth director, whereupon Mr. L. J. Lerwill nominated Mr. Sherman B. Hinckley as director and the nomination was duly seconded. There being no further nominations a vote was taken by the Secretary. An affirmative vote constituted a majority of the quorum, to-wit: 54.45% in favor. The vote was 4,307.375 shares for Mr. Hinckley and 3,603.375 shares opposed.

Thereafter, the Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in their favor for relief sought in the Complaint declaring the stockholders of North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company did legally increase the number of the directors of the company from four to five upon affirmative vote of the ma-

jority of the quorum at the special stockholders' meeting held July 5, 1961, and declaring that Sherman B. Hickley was lawfully elected to the office of Director of North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company at said meeting. The motion was heard on Friday, August 5, 1961, before the Honorable A. H. Ellett, and the Court ruled that,

- (1) The stockholders of the North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company did legally increase the number of directors of the company from four to five, upon the affirmative vote of the majority of the quorum at the special stockholders' meeting held July 5, 1961, and
- (2) That Sherman B. Hinckley was lawfully elected to the office of Director of North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company at said meeting.

The Appellants were directed to admit Sherman B. Hinckley to the office of Director of said corporation to enjoy and be subject to all rights, powers, privileges and duties of such office.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE STOCKHOLDERS OF NORTH POINT CONSOLIDATED IRRIGATION COMPANY DID NOT LEGALLY INCREASE THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS OF SAID COMPANY FROM FOUR TO FIVE AT THE SPECIAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING HELD ON JULY 5, 1961, UPON A MAJORITY VOTE OF A QUORUM.

POINT II.

SHERMAN B. HINCKLEY WAS NOT LAWFULLY ELECTED A DIRECTOR OF NORTH POINT IRRIGATION COMPANY AT THE SPECIAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING HELD ON JULY 5, 1961.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE STOCKHOLDERS OF NORTH POINT CONSOLIDATED IRRIGATION COMPANY DID NOT LEGALLY INCREASE THE NUMBER OF DIRECTORS OF SAID COMPANY FROM FOUR TO FIVE AT THE SPECIAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING HELD ON JULY 5, 1961, UPON A MAJORITY VOTE OF A QUORUM.

Article XXVI, Amendments provide:

"The Articles of Incorporation of this company may be amended or any of the articles as made and provided may be repealed or new provisions adopted at any regular or special meeting of the stockholders *by a vote of two-thirds of the outstanding stock.*"

In addition, Article XXI, Board of Directors states:

"There shall be elected by ballot of the stockholders of this corporation at each annual stockholders' meeting or at a special meeting called for that purpose, a Board of Directors consisting of not less than four or more than six, *and until otherwise determined by the stockholders, the Board of Directors shall consist of four members.*

It is Appellant's contention that the change

from four directors is a change of the Articles of Incorporation requiring a vote of two-thirds of the outstanding stock. The language in Article XXI, "and until otherwise determined by the stockholders, the Board of Directors shall consist of four members" fixes the number of directors at four. The language "until otherwise determined by the stockholders" is not determinative since it does not spell out the number of stockholders required to otherwise determine.

The complaint contains a list of stockholders represented either in person or by proxy. From this it can be readily observed that there are two principle owners of this company, the Bothwell-Swaner Co. and F. B. Bothwell who own 44.1% and the Bonneville On The Hill Co. including its three employees own 41.3%. From this it is obvious that the number of directors is very important, and with a Board of four members it would be natural to assume that two directors came from each of the groups.

It can hardly be contended that it was the intention behind the framers of the Articles of Incorporation for either of the two groups by a simple majority to add one more director and thereby obtain the control of the management of the company. This becomes important for many reasons, one of which is that this company has the power to levy assessments upon its members; therefor, a change

in the number of directors is a most important change in the Articles of Incorporation. It is, of course, the obvious strategy of the Bonneville On The Hill group in calling for a special meeting for the purpose of adding another director namely to obtain control of the management of the company by adding another director through a majority vote.

POINT II.

SHERMAN B. HINCKLEY WAS NOT LAWFULLY ELECTED A DIRECTOR OF NORTH POINT IRRIGATION COMPANY AT THE SPECIAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING HELD ON JULY 5, 1961.

It is Appellants' contention that since no office was created by majority vote there existed no office to which Mr. Hinckley could be elected, even though directors are elected by a majority vote. Election of Mr. Hinckley to a non-existent office would obviously be a nullity.

CONCLUSION

Appellants request that this Court reverse the ruling of the trial court, and declare the action taken by the corporation upon the deciding vote of Mr. Hinckley to be null and void.