1961

Sherman B. Hinckley and Bonneville on the Hill Co. v. Robert B. Swaner, Peter B. Swaner et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT of the STATE OF UTAH

SHERMAN B. HINCKLEY and BONNE-
VILLE ON THE HILL COMPANY,
Respondents,

vs.

ROBERT B. SWANER, PETER B.
SWANER, and NORTH POINT CON-
SOLIDATED IRRIGATION COM-
PANY,

Appellants.

Civil No.
9560

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents agree with the statement of facts and the issues as framed by the statement of points set forth in Appellants' Brief.

Plaintiffs and respondents filed their complaint praying for a declaratory judgment that the stockholders of North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company did legally increase the number of directors from four to five, and that Sherman B. Hinckley was lawfully elected to the office of director. Plaintiffs' cause of action is based upon Chapter 33 of the Judicial Code pertaining to Declaratory Judgments (78-33-1 et seq. U. C. A. 1953) and also upon Rule 65B(b)(3) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. This rule abolished the special Writ of Quo Warranto, but provides in its stead:

“(b) Appropriate relief may be granted:

(3) ...to compel the admission of a party to the use and enjoyment of a right or office to which he is entitled and from which he is unlawfully excluded by such. . . corporation, board or person.”

In granting plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court ruled that the stockholders of the company did legally increase the number of directors from four to five, that Sherman B. Hinckley was lawfully elected to the office of director and ordered that the defendants admit Sherman B. Hinckley to the office of Director of the company.

The simple issue involved is whether or not the change from four to five directors made July 5, 1961, at the special stockholders' meeting constitutes an amendment to the articles of incorporation of North Point Consolidated Irrigation Company. Appellants contend that the articles did in effect have to be amended, and therefore a two-thirds vote was necessary to fix the number of directors at five. Respondents contend that Article XXI gives the stockholders a leeway to change the number of directors between four and six, and within such limits a bare majority is all that is required to carry the motion.

POINT I

Article XXI of North Point's articles of incorporation provide as follows:

“That there shall be elected by ballot by the stockholders of this corporation at each annual stockholders' meeting or at a special meeting called for

that purpose, *a Board of Directors consisting of not less than four nor more than six* and until otherwise determined by the stockholders, the Board of Directors shall consist of four members.”

It seems clear to counsel for Respondents, as it was to the trial court, that Article XXI permits the stockholders to have a board of directors of either four, five or six, without the necessity of any amendment thereto. The stockholders have been given leeway to choose the number of directors to serve the corporation within the limits prescribed. This variable number of directors conforms to the same intent and purpose as historically provided in the Utah statutes. Section 16-2-5 U. C. A. 1953, or its predecessor, has always provided:

“... that in no case shall the number of directors be less than three or more than twenty five.”

To argue as Appellants do, that it requires an amendment to the articles of incorporation to change the number of directors from four to five gives no meaning or effect to the above italicized language from Article XXI. Any articles of incorporation can always be amended. The only possible interpretation which can be given to the clause, “... not less than four or more than six. . .” is that which the trial court adopted. Within these limits the stockholders were free to act without necessity of amending the articles.

There is no ambiguity involved. The plain, simple interpretation of Article XXI permitted the stockholders to change the number of directors from four to five upon

motion duly made and carried by a simple majority as required in Article XXIV. This article pertaining to stockholders' meetings is set forth in full at page 5 of Appellants' Brief. Its pertinent provisions provide:

“A majority of a quorum shall be requisite for the passing, confirming or adopting of any act, motion, or resolution.”

This provision does not change the rule stated in Section 16-2-43 U. C. A. 1953 that in the absence of a contrary provision every question or election at a stockholders' meeting shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast.

In 1953 the Legislature amended 16-2-24 pertaining to Election of Directors to require a notice of such change of number of directors to be reported in writing to the Secretary of State. The amendment was drafted to retain and leave unimpaired all rights of stockholders theretofore existing in regard to changing the number of directors. The first sentence of the amendment stated:

“If the number of directors provided for in the articles of incorporation or other certificates filed pursuant to law be not less than a stated minimum nor more than a stated maximum, and if the articles of incorporation so authorize, the number of directors to be chosen within such maximum and minimum limits shall be determined by or in the manner prescribed by the articles of incorporation.”

This clause recognizes the common corporate practice of providing for a variable number of directors. It goes on to state that the change in number shall be determined in the manner prescribed by the articles of incorporation.

The general law on the subject is stated in Volume 5, Section 2020 of Fletcher, Cyclopedia of the Law of Corporation (1952 Revised Volume) as follows:

“‘It is of the essence of all elections that the will of the majority, properly expressed, shall govern.’ Usually the vote of a majority of those present at a meeting is necessary to elect officers or to decide any question, provided a quorum is present, so that the meeting may be legally held. Such majority of those present is sufficient to elect directors or other officers, or to decide any question, unless there is some express provision to the contrary, although they may not be a majority of all the stockholders or members, nor own a majority of the stock.”

Majority rule is an ancient, well recognized principle of corporate law. In deciding a similar case pertaining to the election of directors, the Supreme Court of Delaware stated:

“We commence with the thought that corporate enterprise should adhere to well established democratic theories, which embody principles of fairness and reasonableness as opposed to principles which are unfair and unreasonable. Shareholders, constituting the backbone of corporate enterprise, must be assured in this respect.

“Outstanding among the democratic processes concerning corporate elections is the general rule that a majority of the votes cast at a stockholders’ meeting, provided a quorum is present, is sufficient to elect Directors. *Hexter v. Columbia Baking Co.*, 16 Del.Ch. 263, 145 A. 115; 5 Fletcher’s Cyc. Corp. (Perm. Ed.) Sec. 2020. If this rule is not to be observed, then the

charter provision must not be couched in ambiguous language, rather the language employed must be positive, explicit, clear and readily understandable and susceptible to but one reasonable interpretation, which would indicate beyond doubt that the rule was intended to be abrogated." (Standard Power & Light Corp. -v- Investment Associates, Delaware 1947, 51 A2d 572.)

To the same effect see *Christal v. Petry*, 90 N. Y. S. 2d 620.

Appellants cite no authorities in support of their contentions, but on the contrary express their views as to why a majority of the stockholders desire to increase the number of directors. The reasons actuating the majority of the stockholders in so doing are irrelevant to the issue as to how, under the articles of incorporation, such change may be made. Experience may have demonstrated that the business of the corporation cannot well be conducted by a board of four members or that an increase or decrease to an odd number might be beneficial, but that again is immaterial. The question is as to the power, not the motive, of the majority in interest of the stockholders to make such a change.

That, as Appellants impliedly recognize by citing no authorities, must be determined by the clear and simple provision of Article XXI of the articles of incorporation.

In conclusion, Respondents submit that the Motion for Summary Judgment was properly granted. The only

possible interpretation that can be given to the clause "... a Board of Directors consisting of not less than four nor more than six. . ." is that permitting the stockholders to change the number from four to five within the framework of the present articles of incorporation.

Respectfully submitted,

MARR, WILKINS & CANNON

Paul B. Cannon

Richard H. Nebeker